## SIMPSON THACHER

## REPORT FROM WASHINGTON



To read the decision in *Matrixx Initiatives, Inc.* v. *Siracusano,* please <u>click</u> <u>here</u>.

# The Supreme Court Rejects Bright-Line Rule on Disclosure of Adverse Event Reports

March 22, 2011

The Supreme Court issued its decision today in *Matrixx Initiatives, Inc.* v. *Siracusano,* No. 09-1156, rejecting the issuer's proposed bright-line rule that adverse event reports could not be considered material unless they are statistically significant and holding that the plaintiffs stated a valid securities fraud claim. The Court reaffirmed its "total mix" of information standard.

#### **BACKGROUND**

The *Matrixx* case relates to alleged misstatements or omissions by Matrixx regarding its main product, Zicam Cold Remedy, a homeopathic remedy used to reduce the severity and duration of the common cold. The plaintiffs allege that Matrixx started receiving multiple reports from physicians and certain academics that some consumers experienced the loss of smell, or anosmia, following the use of Zicam.

On January 30, 2004, the *Dow Jones Newswire* reported that three lawsuits had been filed against Matrixx as a result of complaints that Zicam caused anosmia, allegedly causing a dip in the price of Matrixx's shares. On February 2, 2004, Matrixx issued a press release, contending that "statements alleging that intranasal Zicam products cause anosmia (loss of smell) are completely unfounded and misleading." On February 6, 2004, a physician stated on a *Good Morning America* segment that Zicam caused anosmia, and Matrixx issued another press release that day, reiterating that Zicam does not cause anosmia. Matrixx's stock price dropped from the previous day's close of \$13.04 to \$9.94. On February 27, 2004, in a Form 8-K filing with the SEC, Matrixx stated that it had convened a "two-day meeting of physicians and scientists to review current information on smell disorders" in response to the recent claims that Zicam caused anosmia and that the panel found "insufficient scientific evidence at [that] time to determine if zinc gluconate, when used as recommended, affects a person's ability to smell."

On April 29, 2004, plaintiffs brought suit against Matrixx and certain of its officers in the District of Arizona, alleging that Matrixx's statements about business growth and Zicam's safety were false and misleading. Matrixx moved to dismiss the complaint, arguing that the plaintiffs failed to plead sufficiently the elements of materiality and scienter. The district court dismissed the case due to the plaintiffs' failure to show materiality of the alleged misstatements and/or omissions, holding that "there is no data as to the reliability and accuracy of the user complaints" and "[e]ven if there were . . ., the Court finds 12 user complaints is not statistically significant." No. CV 04 0886 PHX MHM, 2005 WL 3970117, at \*7 (Dec. 15, 2005 D. Ariz.). The district court also held that the plaintiffs failed to allege facts showing a strong inference of scienter.

The Report From Washington is published by the Washington, D.C. office of Simpson Thacher & Bartlett LLP.

"Given that medical professionals and regulators act on the basis of evidence of causation that is not statistically

significant, it stands to reason

that in certain cases reasonable

OPINION OF THE COURT

investors would as well."

"Application of Basic's 'total mix' standard does not mean that pharmaceutical manufacturers must disclose all reports of adverse events."

OPINION OF THE COURT

On appeal, the United States Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit reversed and remanded. The Ninth Circuit concluded that "the district court erred in relying on the statistical significance standard to conclude that Appellants failed adequately to allege materiality." 585 F. 3d 1167, 1178 (9th Cir. 2009). The Ninth Circuit held that "the district court made a decision that should have been left to the trier of fact." *Id.* at 1179.

Defendant-Petitioner Matrixx filed a petition for a writ of certiorari, which the Supreme Court granted. Before the Supreme Court, Matrixx contended that pharmaceutical companies routinely receive anecdotal reports of alleged adverse effects following the use of drugs, and that these incidents do not establish any reliable facts about the drug's performance or safety in the absence of statistically significant data. Plaintiffs-Respondents countered that materiality should be judged based on the total mix of information available to investors, and that Matrixx sought to change the Court's longstanding analysis of materiality by offering the bright-line standard of statistical significance. The United States, the Securities and Exchange Commission, and the Department of Health and Human Services, represented by the Solicitor General's Office, argued against the bright-line rule proposed by Matrixx and in support of the more flexible standard based on the total mix of information.

#### SUMMARY OF THE DECISION

In a unanimous opinion written by Justice Sotomayor, the Supreme Court held that Plaintiffs "have stated a claim under §10(b) and Rule 10b-5" and affirmed the Ninth Circuit.

The Court reiterated that, under *Basic Inc. v. Levinson*, 485 U. S. 224, 231-32 (1988), the "materiality requirement is satisfied when there is 'a substantial likelihood that the disclosure of the omitted fact would have been viewed by the reasonable investor as having significantly altered the "total mix" of information made available.'" The Court observed that it had previously rejected a proposed bright-line rule in *Basic* because "[a]ny approach that designates a single fact or occurrence as always determinative of . . . materiality, must necessarily be overinclusive or underinclusive."

Turning to Matrixx's proposed bright-line rule, the Court concluded that it too "would 'artificially exclud[e]' information that 'would otherwise be considered significant to the trading decision of a reasonable investor.'" The Court reasoned that Matrixx's argument rested on the flawed premise that statistical significance is the only reliable indication of causation. The Court noted that both medical experts and the FDA consider factors other than statistically significant data in determining a causal link. These other factors include "strength of the association, "temporal relationship of product use and the event," and "biologic plausibility." "Given that medical professionals and regulators act on the basis of evidence of causation that is not statistically significant," the Court held, "it stands to reason that in certain cases reasonable investors would as well."

The Court then made clear that "[a]pplication of *Basic*'s 'total mix' standard does not mean that pharmaceutical manufacturers must disclose all reports of adverse events." Noting that the "mere existence of reports of adverse events... will not satisfy this standard," the Court reiterated that the key question "remains whether a *reasonable* investor would have viewed the nondisclosed information 'as having *significantly* altered

"[T]he complaint alleges facts suggesting a significant risk to the commercial viability of Matrixx's leading product."

**OPINION OF THE COURT** 

the "total mix" of information made available." The Court also pointed out that "companies can control what they have to disclose" under section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5 by "controlling what they say to the market," emphasizing that these provisions "do not create an affirmative duty to disclose any and all material information," and that disclosure is required "only when necessary 'to make . . . statements made, in the light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading."

Applying this standard, the Court held that the plaintiffs adequately pleaded materiality. Based on the plaintiffs' allegations, "Matrixx received information that plausibly indicated a reliable causal link between Zicam and anosmia." Additionally, "[c]onsumers likely would have viewed the risk associated with Zicam (possible loss of smell) as substantially outweighing the benefit of using the product (alleviating cold symptoms), particularly in light of the existence of many alternative products on the market." The Court emphasized that, among other things, "Matrixx told the market that revenues were going to rise by 50 and then 80 percent," and that "reports indicating that Zicam caused anosmia were 'completely unfounded and misleading.'" Noting that Zicam allegedly accounted for 70% of Matrixx's sale, the Court concluded that "the complaint alleges facts suggesting a significant risk to the commercial viability of Matrixx's leading product."

Turning to scienter, the Court assumed, without deciding, that the "deliberate recklessness" standard applied by the Ninth Circuit was sufficient to establish scienter. The Court held: "The inference that Matrixx acted recklessly (or intentionally, for that matter) is at least as compelling, if not more compelling, than the inference that it simply thought the reports did not indicate anything meaningful about adverse reactions." Referencing several specific allegations regarding Matrixx's response to the anecdotal reports, including issuance of a press release suggesting that it had confirmed that Zicam does not cause anosmia even though it had not conducted any studies of Zicam use and anosmia and the scientific evidence at the time was indeterminate, the Court determined that "[t]hese allegations, 'taken collectively,' give rise to a 'cogent and compelling' inference that Matrixx elected not to disclose the reports of adverse events not because it believed they were meaningless but because it understood their likely effect on the market."

#### **IMPLICATIONS**

As in *Basic*, the Supreme Court in *Matrixx* rejected a proposed bright-line rule for determining materiality in securities fraud cases under §10(b) and Rule 10b-5. The Court's decision does not alter the materiality standard set forth in prior case law, and therefore companies should continue to ensure that their disclosures do not contain misstatements or omissions that could be viewed by the reasonable investor as having significantly altered the "total mix" of information made available. Additionally, with respect to the pharmaceutical industry, the Court's decision makes clear that the mere existence of adverse event reports does not automatically satisfy the materiality standard.



For further information about this decision, please feel free to contact members of the Firm's Litigation Department, including:

#### **New York City:**

Bruce D. Angiolillo 212-455-3735 bangiolillo@stblaw.com

Michael J. Chepiga 212-455-2598 mchepiga@stblaw.com

Mark G. Cunha 212-455-3475 mcunha@stblaw.com

Paul C. Curnin 212-455-2519 pcurnin@stblaw.com

Michael J. Garvey 212-455-7358 mgarvey@stblaw.com

Paul C. Gluckow 212-455-2653 pgluckow@stblaw.com

David W. Ichel 212-455-2563 dichel@stblaw.com

Peter E. Kazanoff 212-455-3525 pkazanoff@stblaw.com

Joshua A. Levine 212-455-7694 jlevine@stblaw.com

Mary Elizabeth McGarry 212-455-2574 mmcgarry@stblaw.com

Joseph M. McLaughlin 212-455-3242 jmclaughlin@stblaw.com

Lynn K. Neuner 212-455-2696 lneuner@stblaw.com

Barry R. Ostrager 212-455-2655 bostrager@stblaw.com Thomas C. Rice 212-455-3040 trice@stblaw.com

Mark J. Stein 212-455-2310 mstein@stblaw.com

Alan C. Turner 212-455-2472 aturner@stblaw.com

George S. Wang 212-455-2228 gwang@stblaw.com

David J. Woll 212-455-3136 dwoll@stblaw.com

Jonathan Youngwood 212-455-3539 jyoungwood@stblaw.com

#### Los Angeles:

Michael D. Kibler 310-407-7515 mkibler@stblaw.com

Chet A. Kronenberg 310-407-7557 ckronenberg@stblaw.com

#### Palo Alto:

Alexis S. Coll-Very 650-251-5201 acoll-very@stblaw.com

James G. Kreissman 650-251-5080 jkreissman@stblaw.com

#### **Washington DC:**

Peter H. Bresnan 202-636-5569 pbresnan@stblaw.com

Peter C. Thomas 202-636-5535 pthomas@stblaw.com

The contents of this publication are for informational purposes only. Neither this publication nor the lawyers who authored it are rendering legal or other professional advice or opinions on specific facts or matters, nor does the distribution of this publication to any person constitute the establishment of an attorney-client relationship. Simpson Thacher & Bartlett LLP assumes no liability in connection with the use of this publication.

## **UNITED STATES**

#### **New York**

425 Lexington Avenue New York, NY 10017 +1-212-455-2000

### Los Angeles

1999 Avenue of the Stars Los Angeles, CA 90067 +1-310-407-7500

#### Palo Alto

2550 Hanover Street Palo Alto, CA 94304 +1-650-251-5000

### Washington, D.C.

1155 F Street, N.W. Washington, D.C. 20004 +1-202-636-5500

## **EUROPE**

#### London

CityPoint
One Ropemaker Street
London EC2Y 9HU
England
+44-(0)20-7275-6500

## **ASIA**

## Beijing

3119 China World Office 1 1 Jianguomenwai Avenue Beijing 100004 China +86-10-5965-2999

## **Hong Kong**

ICBC Tower 3 Garden Road, Central Hong Kong +852-2514-7600

#### Tokyo

Ark Mori Building 12-32, Akasaka 1-Chome Minato-Ku, Tokyo 107-6037 Japan +81-3-5562-6200

## **SOUTH AMERICA**

#### São Paulo

Av. Presidente Juscelino Kubitschek, 1455 São Paulo, SP 04543-011 Brazil +55-11-3546-1000